
 

             AGENDA 
ASTORIA CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION 

July 18, 2016 
***6:00 p.m.*** 

2nd Floor Council Chambers 
1095 Duane Street  Astoria OR  97103 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
 
 
2. ROLL CALL 
 
 
 
3. AFFORDABLE HOUSING STRATEGY – PROGRESS REPORT (COMMUNITY 

DEVELOMENT) 
 
 
 
 
4. ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THIS MEETING IS ACCESSIBLE TO THE DISABLED.  AN INTERPRETER FOR THE 
HEARING IMPAIRED MAY BE REQUESTED UNDER THE TERMS OF ORS 192.630  

BY CONTACTING JULIE YUILL, CITY MANAGER'S OFFICE, 503-325-5824. 



 

             AGENDA 
          ASTORIA CITY COUNCIL 

July 18, 2016 
7:00 p.m. 

2nd Floor Council Chambers 
1095 Duane Street  Astoria OR  97103 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
2. ROLL CALL 
 
3. REPORTS OF COUNCILORS 
 
4. CHANGES TO AGENDA 
 
5. PROCLAMATIONS 

(a) 90th Anniversary and Rededication of the Doughboy Monument 
 
6. CONSENT CALENDAR 

The items on the Consent Calendar are considered routine and will be adopted by one 
motion unless a member of the City Council requests to have any item considered 
separately.  Members of the community may have an item removed if they contact the City 
Manager by 5:00 p.m. the day of the meeting. 
(a) City Council Minutes of 6/20/16 
(b) Boards and Commission Minutes: 

(1) Library Board Meeting of 5/24/16 
(c) 2016-2017 Ready to Read Grant Application (Library) 
(d) Promote Astoria Funds – Agreement for Professional Services with Astoria-Warrenton 

Chamber of Commerce (Finance) 
(e) Promote Astoria Funds – Agreement for Professional Services with Astoria Downtown 

Historic District (ADHDA) (Finance) 
(f) Authorization to Light the Astoria Column a Pink Hue for the Month of October in 

Recognition of Breast Cancer Awareness Month (Parks) 
 
7. REGULAR AGENDA ITEMS 

All agenda items are open for public comment following deliberation by the City Council.  
Rather than asking for public comment after each agenda item, the Mayor asks that audience 
members raise their hands if they want to speak to the item and they will be recognized.  In 
order to respect everyone’s time, comments will be limited to 3 minutes. 
(a) Ordinance Adopting Astoria Comprehensive Plan Amendment A16-03 to include the 

Parks and Recreation Comprehensive Master Plan (2nd reading & adoption) (Parks) 
(b) Trestle and Track Inspection Maintenance – Contract Amendment #2 (Public Works) 
(c) Liquor License Application from Joshua Allison, dba Reach Break Brewing, Located at 

1343 Duane Street for a New Outlet for a Brewery Public House License (Finance) 
(d) Liquor License Application from Charles Holboke, dba Charlie’s Chop House, Located at 

1313 Marine Drive for a New Outlet for a Full On-Premises Commercial Establishment 
License (Finance) 



 
 
 

7. REGULAR AGENDA ITEMS (CONTINUED) 
 

(e) Resolution Supporting the City of Astoria’s “Coast Guard City” Recertification Application 
(City Council) 

 
8. NEW BUSINESS & MISCELLANEOUS, PUBLIC COMMENTS (NON-AGENDA) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THIS MEETING IS ACCESSIBLE TO THE DISABLED.  AN INTERPRETER FOR THE 
HEARING IMPAIRED MAY BE REQUESTED UNDER THE TERMS OF ORS 192.630  

BY CONTACTING JULIE YUILL, CITY MANAGER’S OFFICE, 503-325-5824 



 
 

CITY OF ASTORIA 
   Founded 1811 ● Incorporated 1856 

 
 
 
July 14, 2016 
 
 
M E M O R A N D U M 
 
TO: MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

FROM:  BRETT ESTES, CITY MANAGER 
 
SUBJECT: ASTORIA CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION AND REGULAR MEETING OF 

JULY 18, 2016 
 
6:00 P.M. WORK SESSION 
 
Item 3: Affordable Housing Strategy – Progress Report (Community Development) 
 

The City Council held a special work session on September 14 to discuss the 
Affordable Housing Study that was completed by the Community Development 
Department in support of the City Council’s goal setting for FY 14-15/15-16. At 
the work session, staff presented background information, a Draft Problem 
Statement, case studies, and a range of short term and long term solutions to 
create more housing opportunities in Astoria. The City Council directed staff to 
study the options in more detail and bring potential solutions back for review as 
part of an overall housing strategy. On November 2, staff presented an affordable 
housing strategy based on comments received at the work session. Over the last 
six months, staff has implemented various aspects of the strategy. 

 
It is recommended that Council review and consider endorsement of the 
Affordable Housing Strategy. It is also requested that Council provide feedback 
on the Code amendments. If there are portions of the Code which Council has 
concerns, direction as to inclusion or removal should be provided prior to the 
Planning Commission hearing being rescheduled.  

 
 



Page 2 of 5 

7:00 P.M. REGULAR MEETING 
 
PROCLAMATIONS 
 
Item 5(a): 90th Anniversary of the Doughboy Monument 
 

The Mayor will proclaim July 21, 2016 as the 90th Anniversary of the Doughboy 
Monument. 

 
CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
Item 6(a): City Council Minutes 
 

The minutes of the City Council meeting of June 20, 2016 are enclosed for 
review.  Unless there are any corrections, it is recommended that Council 
approve these minutes. 

 
Item 6(b): Boards and Commission Minutes 
 

The minutes of the (1) Library Board meeting of May 24, 2016 are enclosed.  
Unless there are any questions or comments regarding the contents of these 
minutes, they are presented for information only. 

 
Item 6(c): 2016-2017 Ready to Read Grant Application (Library) 
 

The Ready to Read Grant Program, administered by the Oregon State Library, is 
used to fund early literacy services for young children 0-6 years old and/or the 
statewide summer reading program for youth 0-14 years old.  Grant applications 
must be date-stamped by August 31, 2016 to be eligible and libraries have one 
calendar year to spend grant funds.  In this grant application, the Astoria Public 
Library will partner with the Lower Columbia Hispanic Council, Astoria Cleaners, 
Bayshore Apartments Management, and Emerald Heights Management to 
provide books and materials about Early Literacy to parents with children aged 
birth through six.  This 2016-2017 Ready to Read Grant would replenish the 
books and informational materials in outreach libraries and allow for the addition 
of one to two more such libraries in the community.  $1,257 is being requested in 
Ready to Read grant funding.  It is recommended that Council authorize 
submittal of the Ready to Read grant application in the amount of $1,257. 

 
Item 6(d): Promote Astoria Funds – Agreement for Professional Services with Astoria-

Warrenton Chamber of Commerce (Finance) 
 

City Code Section 8.045.18 requires organizations receiving funds from the 
Promote Astoria Fund to enter into a contract with the City.  An Agreement for 
Professional Services for Visitor Center and Lower Columbia Tourism Committee 
Services is attached for Council consideration.  It is recommended that Council 
approve the execution of the Agreement for Professional Services with the 



Page 3 of 5 

Astoria-Warrenton Area Chamber of Commerce and commence payments for 
services provided for in this Agreement. 

 
Item 6(e): Promote Astoria Funds – Agreement for Professional Services with Astoria 

Downtown Historic District (ADHDA) (Finance) 
 

City Code Section 8.045.18 requires organizations receiving funds from the 
Promote Astoria Fund to enter into a contract with the City.  An Agreement for 
Professional Services with the ADHDA is attached for Council consideration.  It is 
recommended that Council approve execution of the Agreement for Professional 
Services with the Astoria Downtown Development Association in order to make 
the first payment as provided for in this Agreement. 

 
Item 6(f): Authorization to Light the Astoria Column a Pink Hue for the Month of 

October in Recognition of Breast Cancer Awareness Month (Parks) 
 

On February 18, 2014 the Astoria City Council gave direction to the Parks and 
Recreation Department to limit the use of colored lighting effects at the Astoria 
Column to twice a year when specifically authorized by the City Council.  In 
partnership with Columbia Memorial Hospital and the Friends of the Astoria 
Column, the Parks and Recreation Department is requiring permission to change 
the lighting color on the Astoria Column for the 4th year to a pink hue for the 
month of October 2016 in recognition of Breast Cancer Awareness Month. This 
will be the second and final lighting of the Column for this calendar year.  It is 
recommended that Council consider authorizing the change in lighting at the 
Astoria Column to a pink hue for the month of October 2016 in recognition of 
Breast Cancer Awareness Month.   

 
REGULAR AGENDA ITEMS 
 
Item 7(a): Ordinance Adopting Astoria Comprehensive Plan Amendment A16-03 to 

include the Parks and Recreation Comprehensive Master Plan (2nd reading 
& adoption) (Parks) 

 
This proposed ordinance received its first reading at the July 5, 2016 Council 
meeting.  The ordinance amends Comprehensive Plan Section CP.028.J 
pertaining to Background Plans and Studies and Comprehensive Plan Section 
CP.275.25 pertaining to Parks, Recreation, and Open Space Element.  It is 
recommended that Council conduct a second reading and adopt the ordinance. 

 
Item 7(b) Trestle and Track Inspection Maintenance – Contract Amendment #2 

(Public Works) 
 

The City of Astoria has approximately 4.7 miles of railroad track and 8 timber 
trestles formerly owned and operated by Burlington Northern Railroad from the 
Port of Astoria to Tongue Point.  The Astoria Riverfront Trolley currently operates 
on approximately 3 miles of this track, and over 4 of the trestles.  Due to the age 
of the railroad infrastructure, required maintenance has increasing rapidly.  



Page 4 of 5 

Trestles are inspected yearly to ensure safety.  Last fiscal year Council 
authorized a comprehensive inspection contract with OBEC to provide 
information necessary to maintain proper Trolley operation and plan future 
funding allocation.  OBEC has recently provided a report with the following 
recommendations:   

 
Table 1 – Trolley Infrastructure Maintenance Summary** 

Location Immediate 
Maintenance Needs 

Annual 
Maintenance 

Needs 
Trestles West of 39th Street (Active 
Trolley & River Trail) $276,000 $233,000 

Trestles East of 39th Street (River Trail 
& occasional service equipment) $293,000 $243,000 

Track Maintenance West of 39th 
Street $0 $43,500 

Totals = $569,000 $519,500 
**Costs shown in this table are based on information presented in Table 1 of the Special Inspection Report 
“Maintenance Needs and Associated Costs” and include contingency and design/construction engineering. 

 
There are three options to consider when looking at balancing usability of the 
River Trail and Trolley with cost effective repairs.   
 
1. No repairs are made.  City continues funding minor repairs and inspection. 

This option is not recommended due to the negative effects on trolley 
operation and impacts to the infrastructure. 

2. All immediate repairs be completed with plans to complete annual repairs.  
This option is not recommended due to cost. 

3. A hybrid approach focusing available funding on maintaining structures and 
track west of 39th Street (active rail) and providing minimal repairs and 
frequent inspection to ensure safe operations.  This is the recommended 
approach. 

 
The hybrid approach would be completed prior to Trolley operations in 2017 at an 
estimated cost of $319,500.  Funding for immediate repairs is available in the 
Capital Improvement Fund; however, a more sustainable method of funding the 
on-going maintenance should be explored. 

 
If Council wishes to pursue a hybrid repair approach, approval for a contingency 
task in OBEC’s contact is needed for Trestle CAD Drawings. The estimated cost 
for this work is $17,778 and is available in the Promote Astoria Fund. 

 
Table 2 – Contract and Contingency Task Summary 

Task Cost 
Original Special Inspection Contract $37,067 
Contingency Task 1 – 6th & 14th Street Park Inspection $9,963 
Contingency Task 2 – Trestle CAD Drawings $17,778 

Total =                        $64,808 



Page 5 of 5 

It is recommended that City Council consider proceeding with a hybrid repair 
approach for the Trolley/River Trail trestles.  It is also recommended that City 
Council authorize Contract Amendment #2 in the amount of $17,778. 

 
Item 7(c): Liquor License Application from Joshua Allison, dba Reach Break Brewing, 

Located at 1343 Duane Street for a New Outlet for a Brewery Public House 
License (Finance) 

 
A liquor license application has been filed by Joshua Allison doing business as 
Reach Break Brewing, located at 1343 Duane Street, Astoria.  The application is 
for a New Outlet for a Brewery Public House License.  The appropriate 
departments have reviewed the application and it is recommended that Council 
consider approval. 

 
Item 7(d): Liquor License Application from Charles Holboke, dba Charlie’s Chop 

House, Located at 1313 Marine Drive for a New Outlet for a Full On-
Premises Sales Commercial Establishment License (Finance) 

 
A liquor license application has been filed by Charles Holboke, doing business 
as Charlie’s Chop House, located at 1313 Marine Drive for a New Outlet for a 
Full On-Premises Sales Commercial Establishment License.  The appropriate 
departments have reviewed the application and it is recommended that Council 
consider approval. 

 
Item 7(e): Resolution Supporting the City of Astoria’s “Coast Guard City” Recerti-

fication Application (City Council) 
 

The City of Astoria was originally designated as a Coast Guard City on May 1, 
2011.  In order to retain this designation, every five years the City is required to 
submit an application for recertification as a Coast Guard City.  The application 
will be reviewed by the Coast Guard City Board in September 2016 and, if 
approved, the City’s status will be renewed for another five year term.  Jerry 
Ostermiller assembled the original application and is again assisting the City with 
this recertification process.  It is recommended that Council adopt the resolution 
supporting the recertification application in order to retain its Coast Guard City 
status.   

 



 
 

CITY OF ASTORIA 
   Founded 1811 ● Incorporated 1856 
 
 
 

July 8, 2016 
 
 
M E M O R A N D U M 
 
TO: MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

FROM:  BRETT ESTES, CITY MANAGER 
 
SUBJECT: AFFORDABLE HOUSING STRATEGY – PROGRESS REPORT 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The City Council held a special work session on September 14 to discuss the Affordable 
Housing Study that was completed by the Community Development Department in support 
of the City Council’s goal setting for FY 14-15/15-16. At the work session, staff presented 
background information, a Draft Problem Statement, case studies, and a range of short 
term and long term solutions to create more housing opportunities in Astoria. The City 
Council directed staff to study the options in more detail and bring potential solutions back 
for review as part of an overall housing strategy. On November 2, staff presented an 
affordable housing strategy based on comments received at the work session. Over the last 
six months, staff has implemented various aspects of the strategy. 
 
DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS 
Below is an update on each element of the affordable housing strategy that Council 
approved in November 2015. 
 

• Administrative: The Department will establish a vacant house registry to encourage 
turnover and blight removal. As staff investigates code complaints in the field, new 
observations will be added. Existing derelict buildings that are under investigation will 
also be added.  
 
COMPLETE: The registry has 13 “zombie” houses on the list with more being added 
each month as staff investigates complaints or verifies in the field. One of the houses 
(1142 Grand) is under contract and will be removed if the transaction is completed 
and/or building permits are issued for renovation. This is a very small percentage 
(<1%) of the overall housing inventory.  
 

• A new code enforcement officer position is being explored.  
 
In Progress: The Building Official/Code Enforcement Officer position is advertised 
and candidates are being interviewed in July. If an acceptable candidate is selected, 
the person could start in late August or September.  Alternatively, staff is look at a 
new third party service provider that would administer the building codes and 
nuisance code enforcement.  



• Advocacy: Council can lobby through League of Oregon Cities (LOC) for more 
Federal Housing and Urban Development (HUD) funding, flexibility, and updates 
to income limits through Congressional delegation.  
 
In Progress: The Mayor and staff have met with a representative from 
Congresswoman Bonamicci’s office to discuss housing policy. Staff has also met 
with Clatsop Community Action, Community Action Team, and the Northwest 
Housing Authority to explore advocacy opportunities. In partnership with the 
County, staff presented a list of policy options at a joint City/County meeting in 
Gearhart in March, but no direction was received as a result of this meeting. 
 
Finally, staff attended a Housing Summit in Hood River in May that was 
organized by Portland State University where housing advocates discussed 
various methods for addressing the housing crisis in their respective 
communities.  
 

• Regulatory: Staff proposes an overhaul of the Development Code to allow more 
infill and redevelopment in existing neighborhoods. Provisions could include 
smaller lot sizes for single family and duplexes, accessory dwelling units in 
existing or new garages, less parking requirements for duplexes, and design 
standards to ensure compatibility with surrounding development patterns and 
architectural styles. In addition, the Department is reviewing the development 
review process and could include this as part of a larger package of code 
amendments for the streamlining project.  
 
In Progress: In January 2016, the Community Development Department 
initiated a code revision to address a lack of housing supply in the marketplace. 
Two sections, including Article 2 – Residential Use Zones & Article 3 – 
Accessory Dwelling Units of the Development Code, have been drafted and 
reviewed by the Planning Commission in two work sessions in February and 
March 2016. A public hearing that was scheduled and noticed in April 2015 was 
cancelled. In lieu of a hearing, a work session with public comment was held to 
ascertain neighborhood concerns. During the work session, few specific 
concerns were identified by the Planning Commission or the public in attendance 
so staff has not proposed any changes to the draft code amendments. 
Comments from some community members raised concerns that the proposed 
code amendments would affect neighborhood livability. Staff needs direction 
from Council before proceeding with the proposed code amendments. The next 
step in the review process is to schedule a public hearing with the Planning 
Commission for final review and recommendation to Council for consideration. 
See enclosed documents to review the proposed amendments. 
 

• Public-private partnerships: The City can immediately begin to work with local 
non-profit partners such as Community Action Team (CAT), Clatsop Community 
Action (CCA) and the Northwest Oregon Housing Authority (NOHA) to look for 
creative methods of providing affordable housing. As each organization develops 
its pipeline, the City can determine what role if any it can play to partner on a 
project. For example, the City property between Hilltop Apartments (owned by 



CCA) and Astoria Middle School could be flagged as a prime site and reserved 
for future housing. Other city-owned properties already zoned residential could 
also be disposed and leveraged for affordable housing.  
 
In Progress: As mentioned before, staff has met with housing agency partners, 
but no projects have moved from the concept stage due to a lack of funding. If 
an agency partner is able to secure funding, City staff will entertain a partnership 
opportunity.  
 

• Regarding workforce housing, the City can partner with private owners to create 
more multi-family apartments, ADUs, and smaller houses with lower price points 
for service industry workers in or near the downtown. Renovation of buildings 
such as the Gunderson, Waldorf, and State Hotel are potential adaptive reuse 
projects. Finally, the former Central School and Blue Ridge sites are larger 
redevelopment areas ripe for a new mix of housing types. 
 
In Progress: Staff has met with a number of developers and property owners 
over the last six months. The properties identified above have unique challenges 
that make it difficult to develop. As a result, there has been little progress on 
these projects. The only area of Astoria that is seeing private sector interest is in 
the South Slope/Young’s Bay area because more land is available at lower rates, 
but still offers good views and relative easy access to Warrenton and other 
neighborhoods in Astoria. However, no proposals have been received to date. 
 
Although there is occasional interest in converting underutilized floors in 
downtown buildings, parking can be a challenge from a developer/financing 
perspective. In addition, the rents (i.e. cash flow) may not be high enough to 
make back the initial investment needed to bring the spaces up to current 
building codes. Some property owners do not want to take on the additional risk 
or property management responsibilities. Staff is looking for a candidate property 
owner to do a case study on this issue. 
 
Finally, the Oregon Legislature passed SB 1533 that allows local governments to 
enact a workforce housing requirement for any project that exceeds 20 units of 
multi-family. Below is a summary from the League of Oregon Cities 2016 
Legislative Session Summary of Bills: 
 
SB 1533 will return two tools to cities to encourage the development of housing. First, the bill 
partially lifts the preemption on mandatory inclusionary housing requirements. A city may 
adopt a mandate that multifamily housing projects of more than 20 units must include 
affordable housing units. However, the city cannot require that more than 20 percent of the 
units be affordable. In addition, the city must provide financial offsets for the developer as 
proscribed in the bill. SB 1533 also clarifies that cities can work with developers to provide more 
units or lower the threshold for affordability through a voluntary inclusionary housing program.  
 
Astoria could enact this provision in the Development Code. However, funding 
for such a program would need to be secured.  A new program would require 
City Council review and approval. 



• Funding: Urban renewal funding and possibly the City’s revolving loan (“DQ 
Fund”) could be explored as a housing generator in the Astor West URD, as it 
has been in Astor East.* Potential sites could include the Uniontown Apartments 
(22 units) and older mixed use buildings with vacant apartments. The City could 
partner with NOHA to gap finance the rehabilitation of the exterior while NOHA 
renovates underutilized interior units. Staff will continue a dialogue with NOHA as 
part of the development of a larger Astor West Strategy (Council Goal FY 15-16). 
For future funding sources, the Council could consider the development of an 
“equity fund” in concert with the State, Community Development Financial 
Institutions such as Craft 3, local lending institutions, and larger employers who 
need workforce housing. *Astor Hotel was a housing preservation project and not 
a generator of new housing units. 
 
In Progress: The companion piece to SB 1533 allows local governments to 
adopt a “construction excise tax” to fund affordable housing investments. The 
City already collects a small percentage for the Astoria School District 
Construction Excise Tax so the administration of the fee would be similar. Below 
is an excerpt from the League of Oregon Cities 2016 Legislative Session 
Summary of Bills. 

 
SB 1533 lifts the preemption on construction excise taxes (CET). However, the bill limits the rate 
of a residential CET to 1 percent of permit valuation, a number set at the state level. Residential 
CETs must be spent in a specific manner: 15 percent is remitted to the state for the home 
ownership assistance program; 50 percent must be spent on the same types of financial offsets 
as can be used for an inclusionary housing program; and the remaining 35 percent must be used 
for a locally determined affordable housing program. Any CET on industrial or commercial 
buildings is uncapped, and one-half of these funds must be used on a locally determined 
affordable housing program. The other half may be spent at the city’s discretion, provided it is 
outlined in the enacting ordinance. 
 
Based on this summary, the amount of funding that could be generated would 
largely depend on the percentage assessed on commercial and industrial 
projects. The residential portion would generate less revenue based on the 1 
percent cap. In reviewing FY 2015-16 building permit valuation for 
commercial/industrial projects, approximately $220,000 would be generated 
based on a 1 percent rate whereas the residential would generate about 
$30,000. 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that Council review and consider endorsement of the Affordable 
Housing Strategy. It is also requested that Council provide feedback on the Code 
amendments. If there are portions of the Code which Council has concerns, direction as 
to inclusion or removal should be provided prior to the Planning Commission hearing 
being rescheduled.  

By:     
 Kevin A. Cronin, Community Development Director   



Attachment 1: A 16-02: Development Code Update 

Affordable Housing Text Amendment 

Number of related permits issued  

• Number of variances issued for lot size or coverage standard: 122 since 2009 
• Number of ADUs permitted: 3 
• Number of code violations for illegal ADUs: 1 in 2009 
• Number of requests received for info on tiny homes:  5 phone calls or email inquiries 
• Number of permitted rowhouses: 20 townhomes @ Columbia Landing; 1 remodel of apartment 

building on Exchange St into four townhomes 
 

Zoning Matrix Overview: Existing v. Proposed Standard 

Residential Zone/ Type Existing Standard Proposed Standard Notes 
R-1: Low Density    
SFR Lot Size 5,000 5,000 No change 
Duplex N/A 5,000 Conditional use 
Townhouses N/A No change Limited lots available 
Height* 28 feet No change  
R-2: Medium Density    
SFR Lot Size 5,000 4,500 Encourage partitions 
Duplex 7,500 5,000 Encourage partitions 
Multi-family 5,000 (1st), 2,500 (2nd…) 5,000 (1st), 1,000 (2nd…) Up to 16 units/acre 
Townhouses/Rowhouses N/A 4,000 (1st), 1,500 (2nd…) Up to 16 units/acre 
 28 feet 36 feet Up to 3 stories 
R-3: High Density    
SF Detached Lot Size 5,000 4,500 Encourage partitions 
Duplex (Two Family) 7,500 5,000 Encourage partitions 
Multi-family 5,000 (1st), 1,500 (2nd…) 5,000 (1st), 1,000 (2nd…) 26 units/acre 
Townhouses/Rowhouses N/A 4,000 (1st), 1,000 (2nd…) 16 units/acre 
Height 35 feet 42 feet Up to 4 stories 
ADUs R-1 (CUP), R-2, & R-3 Outright in all R Zones More flexibility with 

types and conversions 
Townhouses N/A R-2 (CUP) & R-3 New building type 
Rowhouses N/A R-2 (CUP) & R-3 New building type 

outside Mill Pond 
Short Term Rentals    
Homestay Lodging R-1 (CUP), R-2, R-3 No change Owner occupied 
Bed & Breakfast R-2/R-3 CUP No change Owner or manager with 

breakfast meal served 
Vacation Rental None (Commercial 

Zones only) 
No change No owner occupied 

requirement 
*Building story = 10’ 6” per floor for multifamily 



City of Astoria 
Development Code 

R-1 Zone 

Article 2 – Page 1 
(Adopted 10-8-92) 

ARTICLE 2 
 

USE ZONES 
 
 

R-1:  LOW DENSITY RESIDENTIAL ZONE 
 
 
2.015.   PURPOSE.   
 
The purpose of the R-1 Zone is to provide an area of low density single-family dwellings, at 
an average density of eight (8) units per net acre, their accessory uses, and certain public 
uses.  The policies of the Comprehensive Plan, applicable overlay zone standards, and the 
standards listed below, will be adhered to. 
 
 
2.020.   USES PERMITTED OUTRIGHT.   
 
The following uses and their accessory uses permitted in an R-1 Zone if the Community 
Development Director determines that the uses will not violate standards referred to in 
Section 2.030 through 2.050, additional Development Code provisions, Comprehensive 
Plan, and other City laws: 
 
  1. Single-family dwelling. 
 
  2. (Section 2.020.2 deleted by Ordinance 04-10, 11-1-04) 
 
  3. Family day care center. 
 
  4. Home occupation, which satisfies requirements in Section 3.095. 
 
  5. (Section 2.020.5 deleted by Ordinance 04-10, 11-1-04) 
 
  6. Manufactured home.  See Section 3.140. 
 
  7. Residential home. 
 

8. Transportation facilities. 
 
9. Accessory Dwelling Unit. 
    

(Section 2.020.8 added by Ordinance 14-03, 4-21-14) 
 

 

Formatted: Indent: First line:  0.5"



City of Astoria 
Development Code 

R-1 Zone 

Article 2 – Page 2 
(Adopted 10-8-92) 

2.025.   CONDITIONAL USE PERMITTED.   
 
The following uses and their accessory uses are permitted in an R-1 Zone if the Planning 
Commission, after a public hearing, determines that the location and development plans 
comply with applicable standards referred to in Sections 2.030 through 2.050, additional 
Development Code provisions, Comprehensive Plan, and other City laws: 
 
  1. Bed and breakfast, or inn. 
 
  2. Home Stay Lodging. 
 
 3. Congregate care facility. 
 
  3. Day care center. 
 
  4. Nursing home. 
 
  5. Public or semi-public use. 
 
  6. Temporary use meeting the requirements of Section 3.240.   
 
 7. Accessory Dwelling Unit. 
 
  (Section 2.025.7 added by Ordinance 04-10, 11-1-04) 
 
 8. Two-family (Duplex) Home Stay Lodging. 
 
  (Section 2.025.8 added by Ordinance 04-10, 11-1-04) 
 
2.030.   LOT SIZE.   
 
Uses in an R-1 Zone which are part of a cluster development will comply with lot size 
requirements in Section 11.160.  Other uses in an R-1 Zone will not violate the following 
requirements affecting lot size which are applicable to the particular use: 
 
  1. The minimum lot size for a single-family dwelling will be 5,000 square feet. 

The minimum lot size for a duplex will be 5,000 square feet.  
 
  2. The minimum lot width for all uses will be 45 feet. 
 
  3. The minimum lot depth for all uses will be 90 feet. 
 
 
2.035.   YARDS.   
 
The minimum yard requirements in an R-1 Zone will be as follows: 



City of Astoria 
Development Code 

R-1 Zone 

Article 2 – Page 3 
(Adopted 10-8-92) 

 
  1. The minimum front yard will be 20 feet. 
 
  2. The minimum side yard will be five (5) feet, except on corner lots the side yard 

on the street side will be 15 feet. 
 
  3. The minimum rear yard will be 20 feet, except on corner lots the rear yard will 

be five (5) feet. 
 
 
2.040.   LOT COVERAGE.   
 
Buildings will not cover more than 30 percent of the lot area. 
 
2.045.   HEIGHT OF STRUCTURES.   
 
No structure will exceed a height of 28 feet above grade. 
 
 
2.050.   OTHER APPLICABLE USE STANDARDS. 
 
  1. All uses will comply with applicable access, parking, and loading standards in 

Article 7. 
 
  2. Conditional uses will meet the requirements in Article 11. 
 
  3. Signs will comply with requirements in Article 8. 
 
  4. All structures will have storm drainage facilities that are channeled into the 

public storm drainage system or a natural drainage system approved by the 
City Engineer. Developments affecting natural drainage shall be approved by 
the City Engineer. 

 
  5.  Where new development is within 100 feet of a known landslide hazard, a site 

investigation report will be prepared by a registered geologist. 
Recommendations contained in the site report will be incorporated into the 
building plans. 

 
  6. All uses except those associated with single-family dwellings shall meet the 

landscaping requirements in Sections 3.105 through 3.120. 
 
  7. Density of congregate care facilities, which are designed for assisted living for 

the elderly or handicapped, shall conform to the density of multi-family 
developments in the R-2 Zone. 

 



City of Astoria 
Development Code 

R-1 Zone 

Article 2 – Page 4 
(Adopted 10-8-92) 

  8. Outdoor lighting in residential areas shall be designed and placed so as not to 
cast glare into adjacent residential properties.  The Community Development 
Director may require the shielding or removal of such lighting where it is 
determined that existing lighting is adversely affecting adjacent residences.   

 
 9. Only one Conditional Use listed in Section 2.025 shall be allowed in 

conjunction with other uses allowed as Outright under Section 2.020 or 
Conditional Uses under Section 2.025. 

 
  (Section 2.050.9 added by Ordinance 04-10, 11-1-04) 
 



City of Astoria 
Development Code 

R-2 Zone 

Article 2 – Page 5 
(Adopted 10-8-92) 

 
R-2:  MEDIUM DENSITY RESIDENTIAL ZONE 

 
 
2.060.   PURPOSE.   
 
The purpose of the R-2 Zone is to provide an area for medium density residential 
development, at a maximum density of 16 units per net acre including single-family 
dwellings and duplexes as outright uses and multi-family dwellings as a conditional use.  
The policies of the Comprehensive Plan, applicable overlay zone standards, and the 
standards listed below, will be adhered to. 
 
 
2.065.   USES PERMITTED OUTRIGHT.  
 
The following uses and their accessory uses are permitted in the R-2 Zone if the 
Community Development Director determines that the uses will not violate standards 
referred to in Sections 2.075 through 2.095, additional Development Code provisions, 
Comprehensive Plan policies, and other City laws: 
 
  1. Single-family dwelling. 
 
  2. Two-family dwelling (Duplex). 
 
  3. Accessory dwelling unit. 
 
  (Section 2.065.3 amended by Ordinance 04-10, 11-1-04) 
 
  4. Family day care center. 
 
  5. Home occupation, which satisfies requirements in Section 3.095. 
 
  6. Home stay lodging. 
 
  7. Manufactured dwelling in approved park. 
 
  8. Manufactured home.  See Section 3.140. 
 
  9. Residential home. 
 

10. Transportation facilities.   
(Section 2.065.10 added by Ordinance 14-03, 4-21-14) 



City of Astoria 
Development Code 

R-2 Zone 

Article 2 – Page 6 
(Adopted 10-8-92) 

2.070.   CONDITIONAL USES PERMITTED.   
 
The following uses and their accessory uses are permitted in the R-2 Zone if the Planning 
Commission, after a public hearing, determines the location and development plans comply 
with applicable standards referred in Sections 2.075 through 2.095, additional Development 
Code provisions, Comprehensive Plan policies, and other City laws: 
 
  1. Bed and breakfast, or inn. 
 
  2. Boarding or rooming house, or other group housing, not mentioned above. 
 
  3. Congregate care facility. 
 
  4. Day care center. 
 
  5. Manufactured dwelling park. 
 
  6. Multi-family dwelling. 
 
  7. Rowhouses and townhouses  
 
  8. Nursing home. 
 
  8.9 Public or semi-public use. 
 
  9.10 Residential facility. 
 
 101. Restaurant as an accessory use to an Inn.  See Section 3.230. 
 
 112. Temporary use meeting the requirements of Section 3.230.   
 
 123. Cluster development meeting the requirements of Section 11.160.   
 
  (Section 2.070.12 added by Ordinance 95-05) 
 
2.075.   LOT SIZE.   
 
Uses in an R-2 Zone which are part of a cluster development will comply with lot size 
requirements in Section 11.160.  Other uses in an R-2 Zone will not violate the following 
requirements affecting lot size which are applicable to the particular use: 
 
  1. The minimum lot size for a single-family dwelling will be 54,500 square feet.  

Manufactured dwellings in an approved park may meet the requirements set 
forth in Section 11.120. 

 
  2. The minimum lot size for a two-family dwelling will be 7,5,000 square feet. 



City of Astoria 
Development Code 

R-2 Zone 

Article 2 – Page 7 
(Adopted 10-8-92) 

  3. The minimum lot size for rowhouses and townhouses will be 4,000 square 
feet for the first unit and 1,000 square feet per unit thereafter up to six units 
per 10,000 square feet or 16 units per acre.  

 
 4. The minimum lot size for a multi-family dwelling will be 5,000 square feet for 

the first unit plus 2,5000 1,000 square feet for each dwelling unit in excess of 
one. The maximum units will be determined by lot coverage and height 
standard up to 16 units per net acre. 

 
  4. The minimum lot width will be 45 feet. 
 
  5. The minimum lot depth will be 90 feet. 
 
 
2.080.   YARDS.   
 
Uses in the R-2 Zone which are part of a cluster development will comply with the yard 
requirements in Section 11.160.  Other uses in the R-2 Zone will comply with the following 
requirements: 
 
A. The minimum yard requirements in an R-2 Zone will be as follows: 
 
  1. The minimum front yard will be 210 feet. Zero lot line will also be considered if 

the predominant development pattern in the neighborhood includes zero lot 
line or setbacks of 5 feet or less. 

 
  2. The minimum side yard will be five (5) feet, except on corner lots the side yard 

on the street side will be 15 feet. 
 
  3. The minimum rear yard will be 15 feet, except on corner lots the rear yard will 

be five (5) feet. 
 
B. For minimum yard requirements in a manufactured dwelling park, refer to 11.120. 
 
(Section 2.080 amended by Ordinance 95-05) 
 
2.085.   LOT COVERAGE.   
 
Buildings will not cover more than 450 percent of the lot area. 
 
 
2.090.   HEIGHT OF STRUCTURES.   
 
No structure will exceed a height of 28 36 feet above grade. 
 
 



City of Astoria 
Development Code 

R-2 Zone 

Article 2 – Page 8 
(Adopted 10-8-92) 

2.095.   OTHER APPLICABLE USE STANDARDS. 
 
  1. All uses will comply with applicable access, parking, and loading standards in 

Article 7. 
 
  2. Conditional uses will meet the requirements in Article 11. 
 
  3. Signs will comply with requirements in Article 8. 
 
  4. All structures will have storm drainage facilities that are channeled into the 

public storm drainage system or a natural drainage system approved by the 
City Engineer. Developments affecting natural drainage shall be approved by 
the City Engineer. 

 
  5. Where new development is within 100 feet of a known landslide hazard, a site 

investigation report will be prepared by a registered geologist.  
Recommendations contained in the site report will be incorporated into the 
building plans. 

 
  6. All uses except those associated with single-family and two-family dwellings 

shall meet the landscaping requirements in Sections 3.105 through 3.120. 
 
  7. Density of congregate care facilities, which are designed for assisted living for 

the elderly or handicapped, shall conform to the density of multi-family 
developments in the zone in which such development is located. 

 
  8. Outdoor lighting in residential areas shall be designed and placed so as not to 

cast glare into adjacent residential properties.  The Community Development 
Director may require the shielding or removal of such lighting where it is 
determined that existing lighting is adversely affecting adjacent residences.   

 
  9. Group Housing. 
 
   a. Density. 
 
   Group housing resident density is limited to two (2) residents per 1,000 

square feet of total gross floor area.  Residents include all people living 
at the site, including those who provide support services, building 
maintenance, care, supervision, etc.  People who only work at the site 
under a valid Home Occupation Permit (see Section 3.095) are not 
considered residents.  Maximum number of residents per site is limited 
to 15.  Usable outdoor area shall be provided at a ratio of 50 square 
feet per resident.   

 
   b. Parking. 
 



City of Astoria 
Development Code 

R-2 Zone 

Article 2 – Page 9 
(Adopted 10-8-92) 

   Where the Community Development Director determines that a group 
housing facility may require parking in excess of that provided for staff 
persons, a parking area of sufficient size to provide for anticipated 
needs shall be provided.   

 



City of Astoria 
Development Code 

R-3 Zone 

Article 2 – Page 10 
(Adopted 10-8-92) 

 
R-3:  HIGH DENSITY RESIDENTIAL ZONE 

 
 
2.150.   PURPOSE.   
 
The purpose of the R-3 Zone is to provide an area for high density residential development 
not exceeding an average density of 26 units per net acre, accessory uses, and certain 
public uses.  The policies of the Comprehensive Plan, applicable overlay zone standards, 
and the standards listed below, will be adhered to. 
 
 
2.155.   USES PERMITTED OUTRIGHT.   
 
The following uses and their accessory uses permitted in the R-3 Zone if the Community 
Development Director determines that the uses will not violate standards referred to in 
Section 2.165 through 2.185, additional Development Code provisions, Comprehensive 
Plan policies, and other City laws: 
 
  1. Single-family dwelling. 
 
  2. Two-family dwelling (Duplex). 
 
 3. Rowhouses and townhouses  
 
 34. Multi-family dwelling. 
 
  45. Accessory dwelling unit. 
 
  (Section 2.155.4 amended by Ordinance 04-10, 11-1-04) 
 
  56. Family day care center. 
 
  67. Home occupation, which satisfies requirements in Section 3.095. 
 
  78. Home stay lodging. 
 
  89. Manufactured dwelling in an approved park. 
 
  910. Manufactured home.  See Section 3.140. 
 
 101. Residential facility or residential home.  
 

12. Transportation facilities.   
(Section 2.155 added by Ordinance 14-03, 4-21-14) 



City of Astoria 
Development Code 

R-3 Zone 

Article 2 – Page 11 
(Adopted 10-8-92) 

2.160.   CONDITIONAL USE PERMITTED.   
 
The following uses and their accessory uses are permitted in the R-3 Zone if the Planning 
Commission, after a public hearing, determines that the location and development plans 
comply with applicable standards referred to in Sections 2.165 through 2.185, additional 
Development Code provisions, Comprehensive Plan policies, and other City laws: 
 
  1. Bed and breakfast, or inn. 
 
  2. Boarding or rooming house, or other group housing, not mentioned above.   
 
  3. Congregate care facility. 
 
  4. Day care center. 
 
  5. Manufactured dwelling park. 
 
  6. Nursing home. 
 
  7. Public or semi-public use. 
 
  9. Restaurant as an accessory use to an Inn.  See Section 3.230. 
 
 10. Temporary use meeting the requirements of Section 3.240.   
 
 11. Cluster development meeting the requirements of Section 11.160. 
 
  (Section 2.160.11 added by Ordinance 95-05) 
 
2.165.   LOT SIZE.   
 
Uses in an R-3 Zone which are part of a cluster development will comply with lot size 
requirements in Section 11.160.  Other uses in an R-3 Zone will not violate the following 
requirements affecting lot size which are applicable to the particular use: 
 
  1. The minimum lot size for a single-family dwelling will be 54,500 square feet.  

Manufactured dwellings in an approved park may meet the requirements set 
forth in 11.120. 

 
  2. The minimum lot size for a two-family dwelling will be 65,5000 square feet. 
 
 3 The minimum lot size for rowhouses and townhouses will be 4,000 square 

feet for the first unit and 1,000 square feet per unit thereafter up to seven units 
per 10,000 square feet or 16 units per acre. 

 



City of Astoria 
Development Code 

R-3 Zone 

Article 2 – Page 12 
(Adopted 10-8-92) 

  34. The minimum lot size for a multi-family dwelling will be 5,000 square feet for 
the first unit plus 1,5000 square feet for each unit in excess of one up to 26 
units per acre. 

 
  45. The minimum lot width will be 45 feet. 
 
  56. The minimum lot depth will be 90 feet. 
 
 
2.170.   YARDS. 
 
Uses in the R-3 Zone which are part of a cluster development will comply with the yard 
requirements in Section 11.160.  Other uses in the R-3 Zone will comply with the following 
requirements: 
 
A. The minimum yard requirements in an R-3 Zone will be as follows: 
 
  1. The minimum front yard will be 20 feet. Zero lot lines will be considered if the 

predominant development pattern in the neighborhood includes no setbacks 
or setbacks of five feet or less. 

 
  2. The minimum side yard will be five (5) feet, except on corner lots the side yard 

on the street side will be 15 feet. 
 
  3. The minimum rear yard will be 15 feet, except on corner lots the rear yard will 

be five (5) feet. 
 
B. For minimum yard requirements in a manufactured dwelling park, refer to 11.120. 
 
(Section 2.170 amended by Ordinance 95-05 
 
 
2.175.   LOT COVERAGE.   
 
Buildings will not cover more than 560 percent of the lot area. Lot coverage can exceed 60 
percent if a proposed multi-family or rowhouse or townhouse project is located with ¼ mile 
of a city park and public transit service. 
 
 
2.180.   HEIGHT OF STRUCTURES.   
 
No structure will exceed a height of 3542 feet above grade. 
 
 
2.185.   OTHER APPLICABLE USE STANDARDS. 
 



City of Astoria 
Development Code 

R-3 Zone 

Article 2 – Page 13 
(Adopted 10-8-92) 

  1. All uses will comply with applicable access, parking, and loading standards in 
Article 7. 

 
  2. Conditional uses will meet the requirements in Article 11. 
 
  3. Signs will comply with requirements in Article 8. 
 
  4. All structures will have storm drainage facilities that are channeled into the 

public storm drainage system or a natural drainage system approved by the 
City Engineer. Developments affecting natural drainage shall be approved by 
the City Engineer. 

 
  5. Where new development is within 100 feet of a known landslide hazard, a site 

investigation report will be prepared by a registered geologist.  
Recommendations contained in the site report will be incorporated into the 
building plans. 

 
  6. All uses except those associated with single-family and two-family dwellings 

shall meet the landscaping requirements in Sections 3.105 through 3.120. 
 
  7. Density of congregate care facilities, which are designed for assisted living for 

the elderly or handicapped, shall conform to the density of multi-family 
developments in the zone in which such development is located. 

 
  8. Outdoor lighting in residential areas shall be designed and placed so as not to 

cast glare into adjacent residential properties.  The Community Development 
Director may require the shielding or removal of such lighting where it is 
determined that existing lighting is adversely affecting adjacent residences.   

 
  9. For uses located within the Astor-East Urban Renewal District, refer to the 

Urban Renewal Plan for additional standards.  
 
 10. Group Housing. 
 
   a. Density. 
 
   Group housing resident density is limited to two (2) residents per 1,000 

square feet of total gross floor area.  Residents include all people living 
at the site, including those who provide support services, building 
maintenance, care, supervision, etc.  People who only work at the site 
under a valid Home Occupation Permit (see Section 3.095) are not 
considered residents.  Maximum number of residents per site is limited 
to 15.  Usable outdoor area shall be provided at a ratio of 50 square 
feet per resident.   

 
   b. Parking. 



City of Astoria 
Development Code 

R-3 Zone 

Article 2 – Page 14 
(Adopted 10-8-92) 

 
   Where the Community Development Director determines that a group 

housing facility may require parking in excess of that provided for staff 
persons, a parking area of sufficient size to provide for anticipated 
needs shall be provided.   

 
 
 

C-1:  NEIGHBORHOOD COMMERCIAL ZONE 
 
 
2.300.   PURPOSE. 
 
This zone is intended to be a restricted commercial district which is designed to meet 
limited commercial needs.  Uses allowed are primarily those which provide convenience 
goods or frequently used services.  Large business operations, strip development, and 
close proximity to other commercial areas is not desired.  The zone should have access to 
an arterial or a collector street. 
 
 
2.305.   USES PERMITTED OUTRIGHT. 
 
The following uses and their accessory uses are permitted in the C-1 Zone if the 
Community Development Director determines that the uses will not violate standards 
referred to in Sections 2.315 through 2.335, additional Development Code provisions, the 
Comprehensive Plan, and other City laws: 
 
  1. Dwelling as an accessory use to a Use Permitted Outright or a Conditional 

Use or dwellings located above permitted or conditional commercial uses.  
 
  2. Day care center. 
  
  3. Family day care center in existing dwelling. 
 
  4. Home occupation in existing dwelling. 
 
  5. Personal service establishment. 
 
  6. Professional service establishment. 
 
  7. Repair service establishment not exceeding 3,000 square feet gross floor 

area. 
 
  8. Retail sales establishment not exceeding 3,000 square feet gross floor area. 
 

 9. Transportation facilities.   



City of Astoria 
Development Code 

C-1 Zone 

Article 2 – Page 15 
(Adopted 10-8-92) 

(Section 2.305.9 added by Ordinance 14-03, 4-21-14) 
 

2.310.   CONDITIONAL USES PERMITTED. 
 
The following uses and their accessory uses are permitted in a C-1 Zone if the Planning 
Commission, after a public hearing, determines that the location and development plans 
comply with applicable standards referred to in Sections 2.315 through 2.335, additional 
Development Code provisions, the Comprehensive Plan, and other City laws: 
 
  1. Automotive service establishment.  
 
  2. Eating establishment without drive-through facilities, not exceeding 40 seats. 
 
  3. Public or semi-public use. 
 
  4. Temporary use meeting the requirements of Section 3.240. 
 
 
2.315    YARDS. 
 
The minimum yard depth for portions of the property abutting a Residential Zone or public 
right-of-way will be 15 feet. 
 
 
2.320.   LOT COVERAGE. 
 
Buildings will not cover more than 60 percent of the lot area. 
 
 
2.325.   LANDSCAPED OPEN AREA. 
 
A minimum of 20 percent of the total lot area will be maintained as a landscaped open area. 
 
 
2.330.   HEIGHT OF STRUCTURES. 
 
No structure will exceed a height of 35 feet above grade. 
 
 
2.335.   OTHER APPLICABLE USE STANDARDS. 
 
  1. Landscaping shall meet the requirements of Sections 3.105 through 3.120. 
 
  2. When a commercial use in a C-1 Zone abuts a lot in a residential zone there 

will be an attractively designed and maintained buffer of at least five (5) feet in 
width, which can be in the form of hedges, fencing, or walls. 



City of Astoria 
Development Code 

C-1 Zone 

Article 2 – Page 16 
(Adopted 10-8-92) 

 
  2. Outdoor storage areas will be enclosed by appropriate hedges, fencing or 

walls, and will not exceed 100 square feet. 
 
  3. Where feasible, joint access points and parking facilities for more than one 

use should be provided. 
 
  4. All uses will comply with applicable access, parking, and loading standards in 

Article 7. 
 
  5. Conditional Uses will meet the requirements in Article 11. 
 
  6. Signs will comply with requirements in Article 8. 
 
  7. All structures will have storm drainage facilities that are channeled into the 

public storm drainage system or a natural drainage system approved by the 
City Engineer. Developments affecting natural drainage shall be approved by 
the City Engineer. 

 
  8.  Where new development is within 100 feet of a known landslide hazard, a site 

investigation report will be prepared by a registered geologist.  
Recommendations contained in the site report will be incorporated into the 
building plans. 

 



City of Astoria 
Development Code 

C-3 Zone 

Article 2 – Page 17 
(Adopted 10-8-92) 

 
C-3:  GENERAL COMMERCIAL ZONE 

 
 
2.385.   PURPOSE. 
 
This zone is primarily for a wide range of commercial businesses, including most of those 
allowed in other commercial zones.  Compared to the C-4 Zone, the C-3 Zone is more 
appropriate for  uses requiring a high degree of accessibility to vehicular traffic, low intensity 
uses on large tracts of land, most repair services, and small warehousing and wholesaling 
operations.  Unlike the C-4 Zone, there are maximum lot coverage, landscaping, and off-
street parking requirements for all uses.   
 
 
2.390.   USES PERMITTED OUTRIGHT. 
 
The following uses and their accessory uses are permitted in a C-3 Zone if the Community 
Development Director determines that the uses will not violate standards referred to in 
Sections 2.400 through 2.415, additional Development Code provisions, the 
Comprehensive Plan, and other City laws: 
 
  1. Business service establishment.  
 
  2. Commercial laundry or dry cleaning establishment. 
 
  3. Commercial or public off-street parking lot. 
 
  4. Communication service establishment. 
 
  5. Construction service establishment. 
 
  6. Eating and drinking establishment. 
 
  7. Educational service establishment. 
 
  8. Family day care center in single-family, two-family, or multi-family dwelling. 
 
  9. Home occupation in existing dwelling. 
 
 10. Motel, hotel, bed and breakfast, inn, or other tourist lodging facility and 

associated uses. 
 
 11. A standalone Mmulti-family dwelling or above permitted or conditional 

commercial uses. 
 



City of Astoria 
Development Code 

C-3 Zone 

Article 2 – Page 18 
(Adopted 10-8-92) 

 12. Personal service establishment.  
 
 13. Professional service establishment. 
 
 14. Public or semi-public use. 
 
 15. Repair service establishment, not including automotive, heavy equipment, or 

other major repair services. 
 
 16. Residential facility. 
 
 17. Retail sales establishment. 
   
 18. Single-family and two-family dwelling in a new or existing structure: 
 
  a. Located above or below the first floor with commercial facilities on the 

first floor of the structure. 
 
  b. Located in the rear of the first floor with commercial facilities in the front 

portion of the structure. 
 
   (Section 2.390.18.b added by Ordinance 11-08, 7-5-11) 
 
  (Section 2.390(18) amended by Ordinance 00-08, 9-6-00) 
 
 19. Transportation service establishment. 
 
 20. Conference Center. 
  (Section 2.390(20) added by Ordinance 94-06, 6-6-94) 
 
 21. Indoor family entertainment or recreation establishment. 
  (Section 2.390(21) added by Ordinance 98-01, 1-5-98) 
 

22. Transportation facilities.   
(Section 2.390.22 added by Ordinance 14-03, 4-21-14) 

 
 
2.395.   CONDITIONAL USES PERMITTED. 
 
The following uses and their accessory uses are permitted in a C-3 Zone if the Planning 
Commission, after a public hearing, determines that the location and development plans 
comply with applicable standards referred to in Sections 2.400 through 2.415, additional 
Development Code provisions, the Comprehensive Plan, and other City laws: 
  
  1. Animal hospital or kennel. 



City of Astoria 
Development Code 

C-3 Zone 

Article 2 – Page 19 
(Adopted 10-8-92) 

 
  2. Automotive sales or service establishment. 
 
  3. Day care center. 
 
  4. Gasoline service station. 
 
  5. Hospital. 
 
  6. (Section 2.395(6) deleted by Ordinance 98-01, 1-5-98) 
 
  7. Light Manufacturing. 
 
  8. Recycling establishment. 
 
  9. Repair service establishment not allowed as an Outright Use. 
 
 10. Temporary use meeting the requirements of Sections 3.240. 
 
 11. Wholesale trade or warehouse establishment.  
 
 
2.400.   LOT COVERAGE. 
 
Buildings will not cover more than 90 percent of the lot area. 
 
 
2.405.   LANDSCAPED OPEN AREA. 
 
A minimum of 10 percent of the total lot area will be maintained as a landscaped open area. 
 
 
2.410.   HEIGHT OF STRUCTURES. 
 
No structure will exceed a height of 45 feet above grade. 
 
 
2.415.   OTHER APPLICABLE USE STANDARDS. 
 
  1. Landscaping shall meet the requirements of Sections 3.105 through 3.120. 
 
  2. When a commercial use in a C-3 Zone abuts a lot in a residential zone, there 

will be an attractively designed and maintained buffer of at least five (5) feet in 
width, which can be in the form of hedges, fencing, or walls. 

 



City of Astoria 
Development Code 

C-3 Zone 

Article 2 – Page 20 
(Adopted 10-8-92) 

  3. Outdoor storage areas will be enclosed by appropriate vegetation, fencing, or 
walls.  This requirement does not apply to outdoor retail sales areas. 

 
  4. Where feasible, joint access points and parking facilities for more than one 

use should be established.  This standard does not apply to multi-family 
residential developments. 

 
  5. All uses will comply with access, parking, and loading standards in Article 7. 
 
  6. Conditional uses will meet the requirements in Article 11. 
 
  7. Signs will comply with requirements in Article 8. 
 
  8. All structures will have storm drainage facilities that are channeled into the 

public storm drainage system or a natural drainage system approved by the 
City Engineer. Developments affecting natural drainage shall be approved by 
the City Engineer. 

 
  9.  Where new development is within 100 feet of a known landslide hazard, a site 

investigation report will be prepared by a registered geologist. 
Recommendations contained in the site report will be incorporated into the 
building plans. 

 
 10. For uses located within the Astor-East Urban Renewal District, refer to the 

Urban Renewal Plan for additional standards.  
 



City of Astoria 
Development Code 

C-4 Zone 

Article 2 – Page 21 
(Adopted 10-8-92) 

C-4:  CENTRAL COMMERCIAL ZONE 
 
2.425.   PURPOSE. 
 
This zone is intended to be the commercial center of the Astoria urban area.  It is designed 
to serve as the focal point for retail trade, services, professional, financial, and 
governmental activities.  The uses permitted are intended to be compatible with the locale's 
pedestrian orientation and, as a result, off-street parking is not required.  The district is not 
suitable for low intensity uses requiring large tracts of land, warehouses, wholesale 
establishments, and other uses which would detract from the purpose or character of the 
area. 
 
2.430.   USES PERMITTED OUTRIGHT. 
 
The following uses and their accessory uses are permitted in a C-4 Zone as an outright use 
if the Community Development Director determines that the use will not violate standards 
referred to in Sections 2.440 through 2.445, additional Development Code provisions, the 
Comprehensive Plan, and other City laws: 
 
  1. Business service establishment. 
 
  2. Commercial laundry or dry cleaning establishment. 
 
  3. Commercial or public off-street parking lot. 
 
  4. Communication service establishment. 
 
  5. Eating and drinking establishment without drive-thru facilities. 
 
  6. Education service establishment. 
 
  7. Family day care center in existing dwelling. 
 
  8. Home occupation in existing dwelling. 
 
  9. Personal service establishment. 
 
 10. Professional service establishment.  
 
 11. Public or semi-public use. 
 
 12. Repair service establishment, not including automotive, heavy equipment, or 

other major repair service.  
 
 13. Residential home, located above the first floor, with commercial facilities on 

the first floor of existing structure. 



City of Astoria 
Development Code 

C-4 Zone 

Article 2 – Page 22 
(Adopted 10-8-92) 

 14. Retail sales establishment. 
 
 15. Single-family and two-family dwelling, located above, or below, or at the rear 

of the first floor, with commercial facilities on the first floor of existing structure. 
  (Section 2.435(15) amended by Ordinance 93-15, 12-20-93) 
 
 16. Multi-family dwelling, located above the first floor, with commercial facilities on 

the first floor. 
 
 167. Studio for artists. 
 

178. Transportation facilities.   
(Section 2.430.17 added by Ordinance 14-03, 4-21-14) 

  
 
2.435.   CONDITIONAL USES PERMITTED.  
 
The following uses and their accessory uses are permitted in a C-4 Zone as a conditional 
use if the Planning Commission, after a public hearing, determines that the location and 
development plans comply with applicable standards referred to in Sections 2.440 through 
2.445, additional Development Code provisions, the Comprehensive Plan, and other City 
laws: 
 
  1. Day care center. 
 
  2. Indoor family entertainment or recreation establishment. 
 
  3. Light manufacturing. 
 
  4. Motel, hotel, bed and breakfast, inn or other tourist lodging facility, and 

associated uses. 
 
  5. Multi-family dwelling, located above the first floor, with commercial facilities on 

the first floor. 
 
  6. Recycling establishment. 
 
  7. Residential facility, located above the first floor, with commercial facilities on 

the first floor. 
 
  8. Temporary use meeting the requirements of Sections 3.240. 
 
  9. Transportation service establishment. 
 
 10. Wholesale trade, warehouse, mini-storage, or distribution establishment (see 

Section 11.170). 



City of Astoria 
Development Code 

C-4 Zone 

Article 2 – Page 23 
(Adopted 10-8-92) 

 
 11. Conference Center. 
 
  (Section 2.435(11) added by Ordinance 94-06, 6-6-94) 
 
 
2.440.   HEIGHT OF STRUCTURES. 
 
No structure will exceed a height of 4555 feet above grade. 
 
 
2.445.   OTHER APPLICABLE USE STANDARDS. 
 
  1. Drive-in purchase or service facilities which make it possible for a person to 

transact business from a vehicle are not allowed for uses permitted in this 
zone, unless the facilities are in conjunction with a financial institution. 

 
  2. Outdoor sales and/or service areas over 100 square feet in size are not 

permitted in this zone, except for restaurants. 
 
  3. When a commercial use in a C-4 Zone abuts a lot in a residential zone, there 

will be an attractively designed and maintained buffer of at least five (5) feet in 
width, which can be in the form of hedges, fencing, or walls. 

 
  4. Outdoor storage areas will be enclosed by suitable hedges, fencing, or walls 

and will not exceed 100 square feet in size. 
 
  5. Indoor storage will not be the principal use of property. 
 
  6. All uses with access, parking, or loading areas will comply with standards in 

Article 7. 
 
  7. Conditional Uses will meet the requirements in Article 11. 
 
  8. Signs will comply with requirements in Article 8. 
 
  9. All structures will have storm drainage facilities that are channeled into the 

public storm drainage system or a natural drainage system approved by the 
City Engineer. Developments affecting natural drainage shall be approved by 
the City Engineer. 

 
 10.  Where new development is within 100 feet of a known landslide hazard, a site 

investigation report will be prepared by a registered geologist.  
Recommendations contained in the site report will be incorporated into the 
building plans. 

 



City of Astoria 
Development Code 

C-4 Zone 

Article 2 – Page 24 
(Adopted 10-8-92) 

 11. For uses located within the Astor-East Urban Renewal District, refer to the 
Urban Renewal Plan for additional standards. 



City of Astoria 
Development Code 

 

Article 2 – Page 25 
(Adopted 10-8-92) 

 



3.020.   ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS (ADUs).   
 
A. Purpose. 
 
 The purpose of this Section is to promote more efficient use of large, older 

homes; provide more affordable housing; allow individuals and smaller 
households to retain large, older houses as residences; and maintain the single-
family character of the house and neighborhood.  

 
B. Standards. 
 
  1. Size. 
 
  a. Primary Structure.   
 
   A house with an Accessory Dwelling Unit must have at least 

1,400 square feet of floor area prior to creation of the Accessory 
Dwelling Unit.  The floor area of the garage or other non-living 
space, such as an unfinished basement, may not be used in the 
calculation of the total square footage.  Any finished area used to 
determine floor area of the primary unit must have been completed 
at least ten years prior to the application for an Accessory Dwelling 
Unit.  This date shall be determined by proof to be submitted by the 
applicant, such as the final inspection report date of a building 
permit. 

 
  b. Accessory Dwelling Unit. 
 
   An Accessory Dwelling Unit shall not exceed 40% of the 

primary structure or 800 square feet in size, whichever is smaller. 
 
  2. Creation of the Unit.   
 
  a. The Accessory Dwelling Unit may be created only through an 

internal conversion of an existing living area, basement, attic, other 
existing attached accessory buildings, or areas over and within 
attached or detached garages.  Accessory Dwelling Units shall not 
be permitted in structures detached from the primary residence, 
including but not limited to guest cottages, detached garages, or 
workshops. 

 
  b. To differentiate an Accessory Dwelling Unit from a two-family 

dwelling, all utilities such as water, electric, or gas, shall remain as 
single service utilities.  The Accessory Dwelling Unit shall not have 
its own utility services, except if the separate services existed prior 
to January 1, 2004.  This does not apply to utilities providing 



service to communication devices such as telephone, television, 
and other communication devices. 

 
 c. An Accessory Dwelling Unit shall be subordinate to the existing 

single-family dwelling and may not be subdivided or otherwise 
segregated in ownership from the primary residence structure. 

 
 d.  Tiny Homes: A tiny home as defined in Section 1.400 may be 

located on a single family lot and treated as an accessory dwelling 
unit. A tiny home must be mounted on a foundation, anchored to 
the foundation with hurricane straps, tie-downs or other engineered 
measures to withstand wind load, and hooked up to city utilities. 

 
  3. Location of Entrances for Main House.   
 
  In addition to the main entrance, one entrance to the house for the ADU 

may be located on the side or rear of the house.  An additional entrance 
shall not alter the appearance in such a way that the structure appears to 
be a two-family dwelling, unless the house contained additional front doors 
prior to the conversion. 

 
  4. Zones in Which Permitted. 
 
  Accessory Dwelling Units are permitted outright allowed as an accessory 

use to any existing single-family dwelling in all zones. Construction of new 
single family units with ADUs are also allowed and encouraged. 

 
  5. Owner Occupancy. 
 
  a. The property owner shall occupy either the principal unit or the 

Accessory Dwelling Unit as their permanent primary residence, and 
at no time receive rent for the owner-occupied unit.   

 
  b. The property owner shall provide a covenant or deed restriction in a 

form acceptable to the City and suitable for recording with the 
County, providing notice to future owners of the subject lot that the 
existence of the Accessory Dwelling Unit is predicated upon the 
occupancy of either the Accessory Dwelling Unit or the principal 
dwelling unit by the property owner. 

 
  6. Lot Size. 
 
  A home with an Accessory Dwelling Unit in the R-1 Zone (Low Density 

Residential) shall be located on a minimum lot size of 5,00 square feet as 
required in Article 2.  There is no minimum lot size for other zones. 

 

Formatted: Tab stops:  1", Left



 7. Off-Street Parking Requirements. 
 
  In addition to the two spaces required for the primary unit, the 

Accessory Dwelling Unit shall have one additional off-street parking 
space. If on street parking is available on a city street, one space may be 
credited to the requirement of three total spaces. 

  
  8. Age of Home. 
 
  An Accessory Dwelling Unit may be allowed in homes originally 

constructed a minimum of 50 years prior to the application for the Accessory 
Dwelling Unit. 

 
C. Permits. 
 
 1. Permit Required. 
 
  A Type I permit is required for the establishment of an Accessory Dwelling 

Unit.  The property owner shall submit an application to the Community 
Development Department on a form provided by the City.   

 
 2. Expiration of Permit. 
 
  An Accessory Dwelling Unit permit shall automatically expire if any of the 

following occurs: 
 
  a. The Accessory Dwelling Unit is substantially altered and is no 

longer in conformance with the plans as approved by the Astoria 
Planning Commission, Community Development Director, and/or 
the Building Official; or 

 
  b. The subject lot ceases to provided the approved number of parking 

spaces; or 
 
  c. The property owner ceases to reside in either the principal or the 

Accessory Dwelling Unit. 
 
D. Non-conforming Accessory Dwelling Units. 
 
 1. The portion of a single-family dwelling which meets the definition of 

Accessory Dwelling Unit which was in existence prior to January 1, 2004, 
may continue in existence provided the following requirements are met: 

 
  a. An application for an Accessory Dwelling Unit is submitted to the 

Community Development Department for review. 
 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0", Hanging:  0.5",
Tab stops: Not at  0.5"



  b. The Accessory Dwelling Unit complies with the minimum 
requirements of the Building Codes as adopted by the City of 
Astoria. 

 
  c. The Accessory Dwelling Unit complies with the requirements of this 

Section 3.020 concerning “Accessory Dwelling Units”.   
 
 2. The Community Development Director may approve a permit submitted 

for a non-conforming unit that does not meet all of the above 
requirements, except those relative to building code requirements, as 
follows: 

  
  a. The permit review shall be in accordance with Article 9 concerning 

Type II administrative decisions.  The Community Development 
Department shall notify property owners of record in accordance 
with 9.010 to 9.020 at least twenty (20) days prior to the issuance of 
a permit for a Non-conforming Accessory Dwelling Unit.  The notice 
shall set forth the standards required and the nature of the non-
conformity. 

 
  b. Permits for a Non-conforming Accessory Dwelling Unit may be 

issued after the notice period by the Community Development 
Director where the Director has made written findings as follows: 

 
   1) That full compliance would be impractical;  and  
 
   2) That neither present nor anticipated future use of the unit 

reasonably require strict or literal interpretation and 
enforcement of the requirements of this code; and  

 
   3) That the granting of the permit will not create a safety 

hazard.   
 
 3. A decision of the Community Development Director may be appealed to 

the Planning Commission in accordance with 9.040. 
 
(Section 3.020 Added by Ordinance 04-10, 11/1/04) 
 
 
Additions to Definitions Section of Development Code 
 
Article 1: Section 1.400  
 
Tiny Home: An accessory dwelling unit that is less than 500 square feet, a 
manufactured dwelling constructed off site according to Section 1.400, and either 
certified by HUD manufactured dwelling standards for permanent living or through 

Formatted: Font: Bold

Comment [KC1]: Proposed additions to the 
Development Code require additions to the 
definition section. 

Formatted: Font: Bold



Recreation Vehicle Industry Association safety standards for temporary living. A 
minimum of 150 square feet per occupant shall be required up to two occupants 
maximum per tiny home. 
 
Townhouse: One of a continuous row of dwellings having at least three distinct, 
architectural features and style, such as color, form, and massing, having at least one 
common wall with its neighbor and on a fee simple lot per unit. 
 

Formatted: Font: Not Italic



 
 

CITY OF ASTORIA 
   Founded 1811 ● Incorporated 1856 

 

 
P R O C L A M A T I O N 

 
WHEREAS, the Doughboy Monument, also known as the Astoria Victory Monument and 
Soldier’s Monument, was constructed in Astoria, Oregon in 1926; and 
 
WHEREAS, the memorial was a project lead by the Clatsop Post of the American Legion 
during the sesquicentennial of the American Revolution to honor the World I soldiers from 
Clatsop County; and  
 
WHEREAS, a bronze cast statue entitled "Doughboy Over the Top at Cantigny" depicting 
America's first victory in World War I was created by American sculptor John Paulding and 
is mounted on top of a concrete Spanish Revival monument designed by Charles T. 
Diamond; and  
 
WHEREAS, the location of the monument was chosen because it was the focal business 
and cultural intersection of Uniontown; and 
 
WHEREAS, the monument was dedicated on July 21, 1926 in the City of Astoria and will 
be rededicated upon its 90th anniversary occurring on July 21, 2016; and  
 
WHEREAS, the structure was recognized individually by the National Register of Historic 
Places on November 15, 1984 and as part of the Uniontown-Alameda Historic District on 
August 25, 1988. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, I, Arline LaMear, Mayor of Astoria, do hereby proclaim July 21, 
2016 as  
 

 
 
and invite all citizens to join in the celebration that will be held on Saturday, July 23, 2016, 
at 3:00 p.m., at the Doughboy Monument.  
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have herewith set my hand and caused the Seal of the City of 
Astoria to be affixed this 18th day of July, 2016. 
 
 
      _______________________________ 
            Mayor 
 

http://military.wikia.com/wiki/Uniontown-Alameda_Historic_District?action=edit&redlink=1


  

Page 1 of 7  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  June 20, 2016 

CITY OF ASTORIA      CITY COUNCIL JOURNAL OF PROCEEDINGS  
City Council Chambers 
June 20, 2016 
 
A regular meeting of the Astoria Common Council was held at the above place at the hour of 7:00 pm. 
 
Councilors Present: Nemlowill (via telephone), Herzig, Price, and Mayor Pro Tem Warr 
 
Councilors Excused: Mayor LaMear 
 
Staff Present: City Manager Estes, Community Development Director Cronin, Planner Ferber, Parks and 
Recreation Director Cosby, Finance Director Brooks, Fire Chief Ames, Police Chief Johnston,  Library Director 
Tucker, Public Works Director Cook, City Engineer Jeff Harrington and City Attorney Henningsgaard. The 
meeting is recorded and will be transcribed by ABC Transcription Services, Inc.  
 

REPORTS OF COUNCILORS 
 

Item 3(a): Councilor Nemlowill reported that the Founder and Chief Executive Officer of Craft3, John 
Berdes, was a friend and mentor who did so much to capitalize the Astoria renaissance. She expressed her 
deepest condolences to his family and colleagues. She reported that she heard positive feedback from Staff and 
the community about Parks Maintenance Supervisor Jonah Dart-McLean. The vast properties and facilities 
managed by the Parks Department makes his job tough. Mr. Dart-McLean deserves praise for doing such a 
great job. She also thanked the members of the Parks and Recreation Master Plan Citizens Advisory 
Committee. Each individual brought an important perspective and she hoped the Plan would ease some of the 
challenges at the Parks Department. The instructors and students of the Clatsop Community College Historic 
Preservation class did an amazing job leveraging a small amount of grant funds to restore the century old 
stained glass window at the Ocean View Cemetery Mausoleum. She hoped the City could work with the students 
more in the future. 
 

 Item 3(b): Councilor Herzig reported that he participated in a Red Cross shelter training last 
weekend. The First United Methodist Church is a designated Red Cross shelter and the training reviewed what 
would happen if a shelter were to open at the church. While the shelter is in Astoria, the trailer that contains all of 
the materials and supplies is parked in Warrenton. He had suggested the trailer be parked at the middle school, 
where other caches have been organized. On Friday, June 24

th
, he would participate in the Library’s after hours 

program at 6:00 pm, discussing how cultural attitudes towards women informs attitudes towards the LGBTQ 
population. The event is free and open to the public. His next Meet the Councilor event will be on Saturday, June 
25

th
 at noon in the Flag Room of the library. 

 

 Item 3(c): Councilor Price reported that only three people attended her last salonical and she 
thanked the two who were in the audience. The timing was bad as the Lower Columbia Preservation Society 
meeting, Scandinavian Festival, Astoria Music Festival, and a few other events occurred at the same time. She 
appreciated the thanks Councilor Nemlowill gave to important members of society and said she would miss Mr. 
Berdes. 
 

 Item 3(d): Mayor Pro Tem Warr said Mr. Berdes was amazing at finding solutions where none 
seemed to exist. He was a great asset to the community and Craft3. He called for a moment of silence in honor 
of Mr. Berdes.  
 

CHANGES TO AGENDA 
 
City Manager Estes requested the addition of Regular Agenda Item 7(d): Authorization to Solicit Proposals for a 
Fuel System Replacement. The agenda was approved with changes. 
 

PRESENTATIONS 
 

Item 5(a): Ocean View Cemetery New GIS Online System 
 
Parks Department staff will update the City Council regarding the status of the new GIS online system for Ocean 
View Cemetery. 



  

Page 2 of 7  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  June 20, 2016 

 
Director Cosby reviewed Staff’s efforts to improve the functionality and management of the cemetery, which led 
to the new GIS system that allows for better identification of the location of gravesites. She described the 
implementation of the system and the information included in the system. Recreation Coordinator Terra 
Patterson demonstrated how to access and use the GIS system via the City’s website. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Warr noted that his business is associated with the cemetery and he has used the new GIS 
system. The system has been a great tool for him and it would also be a good tool for people trying to find loved 
ones. 
 
Director Cosby confirmed the original records would be archived, likely in the basement of City Hall or at the 
library. 
 
Councilor Herzig thanked the volunteers who helped input data into the system. 
 

Item 5(b): Bear Creek Dam Seismic Study Results 
 
The City of Astoria’s Bear Creek Dam is a 90-foot high concrete gravity dam built in 1912 and raised in 1953. 
The Oregon Water Resources Department (OWRD) has classified the Dam as a high hazard dam due to the 
dam’s proximity to human population areas downstream. The classification is not a result of the dam’s age or 
condition, but the age and current condition does affect the possibility of failure during a significant seismic 
event. 
 
In early 2013, the OWRD determined that the City should initiate a seismic failure analysis. A previous study 
performed 20 years ago did not include sufficient information to determine the actual risk of failure as a result of 
a Cascadia Subduction Zone earthquake. In September 2013, City Council authorized a contract with Cornforth 
for the first phase of a geotechnical engineering analyses. This work was completed in March of 2014. The 
analyses found that geologic conditions were better than previously assumed. 
 
In October 2014, Council authorized an additional contract with Cornforth Consultants for Phase 2 of the study. 
Phase 2 included the “Seismic Failure Analysis.” Their evaluation was completed and the results summarized in 
a draft report dated June 2015. The evaluation identified uncertainties in foundation conditions of the right (east) 
abutment that have a large impact on the dam’s factor of safety against sliding. In order to address this, the 
consultant performed an additional geotechnical investigation and the results were favorable. Based on these 
results, it is anticipated that the State will not require any structural modifications to the dam structure. There will 
be some additional work at the water system headworks to prevent future dam overtopping events but the costs 
of these improvements are small compared to the costs that would have been associated with a seismic retrofit 
of the dam structure. Future projects consist of repair to the main drainage piping for the dam, a probable 
maximum flow study for the watershed, and a possible future overflow weir to the east of the Bear Creek 
Reservoir. A final report detailing the study is currently being reviewed by the OWRD State Engineer and will be 
finalized in the near future. The consultant will be in attendance at the meeting to present the results of the study 
and to answer any questions. 
 
City Engineer Harrington introduced the consultant team that worked on the engineering studies. He noted the 
Staff report summarized the costs of this study and grants received to date. He presented background 
information on the dam, explained the concerns that led to the engineering studies, and described the processes 
used to conduct the studies. 
 
Keith Mills, State Engineer for OWRD, 725 Summer Street NE, Salem, Oregon, said his department is 
responsible for the safety of about 930 dams around the state. The Bear Creek Dam has been a concern 
because it is close to the Cascadia Subduction Zone and prior engineering reports concluded that the dam was 
not physically stable. Therefore, a special emergency action plan was created for the dam and emergency 
procedures were reviewed with Svensen residents. His department worked closely with City Staff to choose a 
qualified consultant that could do a thorough analysis of the dam to assess its risk level. 
 
Gerry Heslin, Cornforth Associates, updated City Council on the engineering study by reviewing background 
information on the project, outlining the project objectives, presenting the geologic models built to understand the 
structure of the dam, and reviewing the analysis methods, results, and conclusions of the study. 
 



  

Page 3 of 7  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  June 20, 2016 

Engineer Harrington said the community does not have to worry about the dam failing, but damage to the 
abutments could affect the stability of the dam. Therefore, Staff will repair the valve that drains the dam to 
prevent possible overflow damage to the abutments. The repair project has been budgeted for this fiscal year 
and Staff will present a request to authorize a contract for the work, which will cost $30,000. During the next 
fiscal year, a maximum flow study will be budgeted to study the largest flood event possible. The new study will 
be based on better science than the older studies. Staff is currently waiting on the new National Oceanic and 
Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) guidelines to be published, which will allow the City to design an auxiliary 
spillway in a low area to the east of the reservoir. Repairing the drainage valve and building an auxiliary spillway 
will create a failsafe situation. 
 
Councilor Price asked if this report would have any effect on insurance or emergency notification procedures. 
Engineer Harrington said the emergency action plan created a few years ago is updated annually and the most 
recent changes would be added during the next update cycle. The earthquake scenario was the biggest concern 
of all the scenarios included in the plan. However, this study downgrades the earthquake scenario from a 
number one priority emergency to a lower priority event, making a flood event the top priority in the action plan. 
Additionally, downstream residents were concerned that tsunami inundation zone signs would lower property 
values, but the study alleviates the need for such signage. 
 
Councilor Price suggested Staff be cautious about lowering the priority of an earthquake event too much in the 
plan. There is still some uncertainty about the basalt that the bridge abutments are built into. Signage seems like 
an easy and cautious way to go. Engineer Harrington explained that Staff wanted to focus on the most important 
events, not create a climate of fear. He agreed it would be wise to move to higher ground in an earthquake, but 
did not want people to panic and get hurt trying to evacuate. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Warr called for public comments.  
 
Chris Farrar, 3023 Harrison Avenue, Astoria, wanted to know the seismic safety factor of the worst one-foot 
section of the dam. 
 
Engineer Harrington explained that the structural study confirmed some of the concrete samples from the dam 
could withstand between 4,000 and ,9000 pounds per square inch (psi), noting that new construction must only 
be strong enough to withstand 3,000 psi. Very strong rock was used in the concrete when the dam was built, so 
resisting forces are transferred into the rest of the structure. 
 

CONSENT CALENDAR 
 
The following items were presented on the Consent Calendar: 

6(a) City Council Minutes of 5/2/16 
6(b) City Council/Library Board Work Session of 5/25/16 
6(c) Boards and Commission Minutes 

(1) Historic Landmarks Commission Meeting of 5/17/16 
(2) Planning Commission Meeting of 5/24/16 

6(d) Motor Vehicle Fuel Tax Collection Intergovernmental Agreement (Finance) 
6(e) Resolution to Close Unnecessary Funds (Finance) 

 
Councilor Herzig requested Item 6(c)(1) be removed for further discussion. 
 

City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Price, seconded by Councilor Herzig, to approve Items 6(a), 
(b), (c)(2), (d), and (e) of the Consent Calendar. Motion carried unanimously. Ayes: Councilors Price, Warr, 
Herzig, and Nemlowill; Nays: None. 
 

Item 6(c)(1): Historic Landmarks Commission Meeting of 5/17/16 
 
Councilor Herzig asked for an update on the plan to place a tiny home on City property. Director Cronin said 
there had not been any progress on that project since the Historic Landmarks Commission (HLC) meeting. 
 

City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Herzig, seconded by Councilor Price, to approve Item 6(c)(1) of 
the Consent Calendar. Motion carried unanimously. Ayes: Councilors Price, Warr, Herzig, and Nemlowill; Nays: 
None. 



  

Page 4 of 7  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  June 20, 2016 

 

REGULAR AGENDA ITEMS 

 

Item 7(a): Resolution Adopting Supplemental Budget for Fiscal Year 2015-2016 (Finance) 
 
ORS 294.473 provides a procedure for a municipality to pass a supplemental budget that adjusts for changes 
that happen during a fiscal year. The process required by the statute is to advertise a supplemental budget not 
less than 5 days before a Council meeting. That notice was made. The Council is then required to conduct a 
public hearing for consideration of the supplemental budgets. Council may consider a resolution that would adopt 
the supplemental budgets as advertised. The changes created by the supplemental budget to the Fiscal Year 
2015-16 budget are as follows: 
 

General Fund 
The supplemental budget increases the Community Development Department requirements by a total of 
$15,000 and creates an interfund transfer not to exceed $290,000 to the Parks Operations Fund. These changes 
will reduce the General Fund Contingency by $305,000. 
 
This Community Development transfer is required as a result of extra labor required in providing coverage for 
Community Development Director and Planner duties during transitions in staff for both Community 
Development Director and Planner. Services were provided by Mike Morgan, as the interim Planner, and former 
Planner Rosemary Johnson completed ongoing projects and provided training for the Department. 
 
Interfund transfer requirements are discussed in the Parks Operations Fund. 
 

Parks Operation Fund (POF) 
The supplemental budget for Parks Operation Fund increases resources and the related requirements in an 
amount not to exceed $290,000. 

 
Increased resources are: 

 Recognizing $290,000 transfer from General Fund  
 
Increased requirements occur in the following departments: 

 

Aquatic Center 
Anticipated expenses are projected to exceed approved budget amounts by $75,000. 

 Wages are anticipated to exceed budget by approximately $47,000. Approximately $35,000 of this 
increased expenditure is a result of hourly wages increases designed to attract and retain qualified staff. 
The remainder is as a result of the Aquatic Center Coordinator’s departure Mid-May. 

 Non-labor expenses are anticipated to exceed budget by approximately $28,000. These expenses are 
primarily associated with repair and maintenance of the facility. 

 

Recreation Department 
Anticipated expenses are projected to exceed budget in the amount of $200,000. 

 Wages are anticipated to exceed budget by approximately $153,000. Assistance from Rosemary 
Johnson and John Goodenberger was required to complete necessary background and to conduct title 
research for the completion of the Parks Master Plan, which amounted to approximately $30,000. The 
remainder accounts for personnel costs required to operate recreational programs. 

 Non-labor expenses are anticipated to exceed budget by approximately $50,000. Late renewal of the 
Gray School rental agreement and subsequent invoicing for prior year expense in the amount of 
$12,000, unforeseen expenses related to repair and maintenance of facilities and increases for program 
and operating supply costs. 

 
Appropriation authority level of an additional $15,000 is included in the supplemental budget to provide for 
unanticipated items not considered in the end of year projections. 
 

Capital Improvement Fund (CIF) 
The supplemental budget increases resources and requirements in the amount of $22,500. New resources 
offset the additional requirements. 



  

Page 5 of 7  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  June 20, 2016 

 
Increased resources are: 

 $22,500 unanticipated revenue received for carbon credit payment. 
 
Increased requirements are: 

 Increase to Materials & Services in the amount of $22,500. Additional expenses related to carbon credit 
validation and forestry services require additional $22,500 in Professional Service appropriation. 

 
It is recommended that Council adopt the attached resolution for the supplemental budget. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Warr opened the public hearing at 8:01 pm and called for public comments on the supplemental 
budget. 
 
Norma Hernandez, 92335 Young’s River Road, Astoria, said she supported the supplemental budget and 
thanked City Council for considering it. Her heart is with the Parks Department and she hoped Council would 
consider future efforts to improve what Astoria already has. The Master Plan is a great beginning and the Parks 
Department needs the money to implement the Plan. The Parks provides services for low-income families that 
do not have access to those services anywhere else. Scholarships offered to low-income families provide 
healthy activities. The Parks Department does so much more than just offer swim classes; it helps provide a 
healthy community. The City wants a community that is healthy, integrated, and inclusive. Many cuts have been 
made in the past, but in the future, Council should try to bring excellence to the Parks Department because doing 
so would bring excellence to the city. The funding is necessary to plan for a better future. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Warr closed the public hearing at 8:04 pm and called for Council discussion and deliberation. 
 
Councilor Price said there is no question that Astoria has a robust and marvelous Parks and Recreation 
Department that offers a comprehensive range of activities for young and old, rich and poor. She understood the 
supplemental budget did not really add anything. Every year, a supplemental budget is required for the Parks 
Department because of the way the financial data accrues. The Parks and Finance Departments have been 
working towards better budgeting and she did not have problems with this supplemental budget. She has spoken 
with Staff about the need for quarterly budget summaries that give department heads a better idea of their 
budgets. This is not about what services and activities the Parks Department provides; it is just financial 
accounting. 
 
Councilor Nemlowill believed the supplemental budget was evidence that the Parks Department was spread too 
thin. The City will need to make some tough choices about the facilities and programs that it values the most 
because current operations are not sustainable. The City must prioritize in order to keep vital services, like the 
Aquatic Center, viable for the future. None of this is the fault of the current administration, but too many 
responsibilities were added to the Parks department five years ago. Programs were added as moneymakers for 
the City, but they are not working. The City will have to partner with other organizations or recruit volunteers to 
take over some of the services. Unfortunately, these conversations cannot be ignored. 
 
Councilor Herzig thanked Ms. Hernandez for reminding the City to be inclusive in its planning. All City 
departments need to consider families that cannot afford health club memberships, books, computers, internet 
access, and all of the things that make a community mentally and physically healthy. The City needs to keep this 
in mind while planning for the library as well. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Warr did not believe there was much money in the budget to assist the Parks Department. Since 
the City cannot substantially increase the budget, services will need to be substantially limited. However, the 
services the City can provide should be done well. He believed the City should consider the amount of Park 
property it maintains. In many communities, ball fields are maintained by volunteers. Priorities must be set to 
make sure the City’s services are sustainable into the future. 
 

City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Price, seconded by Councilor Herzig to approve the Resolution 
to Adopt the Supplemental Budget for Fiscal Year 2015-2016. Motion carried unanimously. Ayes: Councilors 
Price, Warr, Herzig, and Nemlowill; Nays: None. 
 



  

Page 6 of 7  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  June 20, 2016 

Item 7(b): Resolution Transferring Appropriations within a Fund – 17
th

 Street Dock (Finance)  
 
ORS 294.463 provides a procedure for a municipality to transfer appropriations within a fund. As the fiscal year 
2015-16 reaches completion, staff has determined two funds require adjustments: the 17th Street Dock Fund 
and the Building Inspection Fund. 
 
17th Street Dock Fund 
At the time the budget was originally appropriated the actual amount of staff time required for maintenance was 
not anticipated. A transfer of $2,500 is required between Personal Services and Materials & Services in the 17th 
Street Dock Fund.· Appropriations for Personnel Services in the amount of $2,500 are being transferred to 
provide appropriations in the amount of $4,500. Materials & Services appropriation will be reduced from $56,500 
to $54,000 and have sufficient appropriations remaining for anticipated expense of $22,000. 
 
Building Inspection Fund 
At the time the budget was originally appropriated the Personal Services included appropriations for full time 
Building Inspector/Code Enforcement staff. Subsequent to budget adoption, staff left employment and the City 
has contracted services. A transfer of $45,000 is required between Personal Services and Professional Services 
– Material & Services in the Building Inspection Fund. Appropriations for Personal Services will be reduced by 
$45,000 resulting in appropriations of $136,450, which are sufficient for the anticipated annual expenses of 
$72,000. Materials & Services appropriation will be increased by $45,000 to a total of $ 6,200 to provide sufficient 
appropriations for unanticipated contract support for building inspection/code enforcement and anticipated 
annual expense of $66,200. 
 
It is recommended that Council consider adopting the resolution. 
 
City Manager Estes confirmed this transfer did not meet the threshold that would trigger a public hearing. 
 

City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Herzig, seconded by Councilor Price to adopt the Resolution 
transferring appropriations within the 17

th
 Street Dock Fund and the Building Inspection Fund. Motion carried 

unanimously. Ayes: Councilors Price, Warr, Herzig, and Nemlowill; Nays: None. 
 

Item 7(c): Spur 14 Water Line Project – Authorization to Award (Public Works) 
 
The Spur 14 Water Line Project will provide a direct connection to the City’s best quality water source. Upon 
completion, the project will provide better operational control over source water selection, better flow monitoring, 
reduce maintenance on existing pressure relief valves, and should reduce the level of disinfection byproducts 
(DBP) in the City’s treated water. This will also enhance the City’s ability to stay in compliance with recent United 
States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) drinking water regulations. 
 
In May 2016, Council authorized bid advertisement of this project. The following competitive bids were received 
on June 14, 2016: 
 

Contractor Bid 

Big River Construction Inc. $286,007.00 

Bill Hughes Excavation $312,503.59 

Emery & Sons Construction Group $313,585.00 

Enterprises Northwest Inc. DBA Earthworks Excavation $308,838.00 

 
The Engineer’s Estimate prepared for the project is $290,000 including a 10 percent contingency. 
 
Funds are available for this project in the Capital Improvement Fund, FY2016-17 budget. It is recommended that 
Council authorize staff to award a construction contract to Big River Construction, Inc., for the Spur 14 Water 
Line Project in the amount of $286,007.00. 
 

City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Price, seconded by Councilor Herzig to authorize staff to award 
a construction contract to Big River Construction, Inc., for the Spur 14 Water Line Project in the amount of 
$286,00700. Motion carried unanimously. Ayes: Councilors Price, Warr, Herzig, and Nemlowill; Nays: None. 
 



  

Page 7 of 7  City Council Journal of Proceedings 
  June 20, 2016 

Item 7(d): Authorization to Solicit Proposals for a Fuel System Replacement 
 
This item was added during Item 4: Changes to the Agenda. 
 
City Manager Estes explained that the City currently uses a fuel delivery system comprised of three underground 
fuel tanks located at the Public Works yard off 30

th
 Street. The tanks were installed in 1978 and have exceeded 

the end of their service life. Replacing the existing fuel system with a new set of above ground fuel tanks and 
updating components is the most cost effective and sustainable way to continue providing fuel to the City of 
Astoria fleet of vehicles. The new system would include two new above ground tanks. As part of this proposal, 
the existing tanks would be removed. A total amount of $220,000 for this project was budgeted in the Capital 
Improvement Fund for the next fiscal year. Staff would like the project to be complete within the next fiscal year, 
so authorization to solicit proposals is needed now. Staff recommended Council authorize Staff to solicit 
proposals for the fuel system replacement project. 
 
Councilor Herzig asked what seismic reinforcements were planned for the above ground tanks. He also wanted 
to know if the tanks could be moved if the Public Works Department changed locations. Director Cook said the 
tanks would be placed on and bolted to a concrete foundation. In order to transport the tanks, the bolts simply 
need to be removed. 
 
Councilor Herzig was concerned the cement slab would sink into the ground if liquefaction were to occur during a 
seismic event. Engineer Harrington did not believe building the slab to withstand a Cascadia event would be cost 
effective. 
 

City Council Action: Motion made by Councilor Herzig, seconded by Councilor Price to authorize staff to solicit 
proposals for the fuel system replacement project. Motion carried unanimously. Ayes: Councilors Price, Warr, 
Herzig, and Nemlowill; Nays: None. 
 

NEW BUSINESS & MISCELLANEOUS, PUBLIC COMMENTS (NON-AGENDA) 
 
David Oser, 254 W Irving, Astoria, thanked the City Council for such kind remarks about Mr. Berdes. As Chief 
Financial Officer at Craft3, he agreed that Mr. Berdes was an inspirational and visionary leader that would be 
greatly missed. He would pass Council’s remarks on to everyone at Craft3. Mr. Berdes loved Astoria and Craft3 
is as committed to Astoria as he was. 

 

ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 8:21 pm to convene the Astoria Development 
Commission meeting. 
 

ATTEST:       APPROVED: 
 
 
 

              
Finance Director City Manager  























































































 
 

CITY OF ASTORIA 
   Founded 1811 ● Incorporated 1856 

 
 
 
 
 
July 8, 2016 
 
 
M E M O R A N D U M 
 
TO: MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL 

FROM:  BRETT ESTES, CITY MANAGER 
 
SUBJECT: RESOLUTION SUPPORTING THE CITY OF ASTORIA’S “COAST 

GUARD CITY” RECERTIFICATION APPLICATION 
 
DISCUSSION/ANALYSIS 
 
The City of Astoria was originally designated as a Coast Guard City on May 1, 2011.  In 
order to retain this designation, every five years the City is required to submit an 
application for recertification as a Coast Guard City.  The application will be reviewed by 
the Coast Guard City Board in September 2016 and, if approved, the City’s status will 
be renewed for another five year term.  Jerry Ostermiller assembled the original 
application and is again assisting the City with this recertification process.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It is recommended that Council adopt the resolution supporting the recertification 
application in order to retain its Coast Guard City status.   
 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 16-____ 
 

A RESOLUTION SUPPORTING THE CITY OF ASTORIA’S 
COAST GUARD CITY RECERTIFICATION APPLICATION 

 
WHEREAS, the people of Astoria, Oregon share a rich history with the United States Coast 
Guard and have provided a home for the Coast Guard since 1915; and 
 
WHEREAS, Astoria is part of the US Coast Guard 13th District, Sector Columbia River; and   
 
WHEREAS, the City of Astoria was designated a Coast Guard City on May 1, 2011; and  
 
WHEREAS, every five years the City is required to submit an application for re-designation 
as a Coast Guard City; and 
 
WHEREAS, we are stronger because of the dedication and support we receive from the 
United States Coast Guard; and 
 
WHEREAS, the men and women of the Coast Guard contribute many intangible benefits  to 
the local community in addition to the services they provide -- they are our neighbors, our 
friends, as well as role models and mentors for our young people; and  
 
WHEREAS, Astoria is extremely honored to be named a Coast Guard City and wishes to 
continue this designation. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY OF ASTORIA, THAT 
 
Section 1.  The Astoria City Council wholeheartedly endorses and supports the recertification 
application and looks forward to retaining Coast Guard City status.   
 
Section 2.  Effective Date.  This Resolution is effective on the date of its passage. 
 
ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL THIS 18TH DAY OF JULY, 2016. 
 
APPROVED BY THE MAYOR THIS 18TH DAY OF JULY, 2016. 
 
 
      ________________________________ 
           Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________ 
City Manager 
 
 
ROLL CALL ON ADOPTION YEA  NAY  ABSENT 
Councilor Nemlowill 
  Herzig 
  Price 
  Warr 
Mayor LaMear 


	Agenda Reg and Work Session 7-18-16
	Agenda Memo Reg and Work Session 7-18-16
	(3) Affordable Housing
	5(a) Doughboy Monument Proclamation
	6(a) CC Minutes 6-20-16
	6(b)(1) Library Board Minutes 5-24-16
	6(c) Ready to Read Grant
	6(d) Chamber of Commerce Agreement
	6(e) ADHDA Agreement
	6(f) Light Astoria Column
	7(a) Ordinance for Parks Master Plan
	7(b) Trestle and Track Inspection
	7(c) Liquor License Reach Break Brewing
	7(d) Liquor License Charlies Chop House
	7(e) Resolution for Coast Guard City Status
	Agenda Reg and Work Session 7-18-16.pdf
	             AGENDA
	ASTORIA CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION

	             AGENDA
	          ASTORIA CITY COUNCIL





